
UNIT ED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 2 W 0  

Mr. John Muir 
Connelly, Baker, and Wotring, LLP 
700 J,P, Morgan Chase Tower 
600 Travis Street 
Houston, TX 77002 

Dear Mr. Muir: 

I am pleased to respond to your telephone inquiry with my staff in the Hazardous 
Waste Identification Division. Your question concerned the hazardous waste manifesting 
requirements applicable to rail transporters, and was raised by you on behalf of your 
client, the Union Pacific Railroad. 

Under the current Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) hazardous 
waste regulations addressing shipments by rail, a hazardous waste generator typically 
sends the hazardous waste manifest to the rail transporter's corporate ofice for the 
requisite signature by the rail transporter, Manifest copies are not carried on the rail 
equipment during rail transportation, so the rail transporter's corporate office typically 
signs the manifest to show receipt by the first rail transporter, and then returns the signed 
copies to the generator by mail, package delivery service, or courier. The generator is 
required to retain a copy of the manifest signed by the rail transporter for its files, and 
then the generator must forward the remaining copies of the signed manifests to the next 
non-rail transporter, or to the designated facility as appropriate. This approach ensures 
that the remaining copies are received by the subsequent non-rail bansporters (if any) or 
by the designated facility, so they may sign and complete the manifest as the chain of 
custody for the shipment continues beyond the rail tranporters. 

Under these cwrent procedures, therefore, the movement of the hazardous waste 
shipment c m o t  actually progress within the rail system until the rail transporter has 
confirmed the delivery of the signed copies of the manifest to the generator. This 
overnight delivery and confirmation step can result in up to a Zday delay in the start of 
the hazardous waste transportation on the rail system. Therefore, you asked whether the 
existing -dous waste regulations allow the rail transporter to either FAX a signed 
copy of the manifest or e-mail a scanned copy of the signed manifest to the generator as 
an alternative means to indicate to the generator the receipt of the hazardous waste by the 
rail transporter. You indicated that if this alternative delivery method were found to be 



allowed under the RCRA hazardous waste reguIations, it could eliminate or reduce the 
delay that now results while the signed paper manifest copies are being returned to the 
generator and the delivery of the paper copies to the generator is confirmed. 

As you may know, in 1 996, EPA adopted a policy that allowed RCRA treatment, 
storage, and disposal facilities (TSDFs), under specified conditions dealing with security 
and accessibility, to substitute scanned image files of manifests for their paper manifest 
record collections in order to comply with their recordkeeping requirements. (See 
enclosed copy of the interpretive letter dated November 12, 1996 from Michael Shapiro, 
Director, EPA Office of Solid Waste, to Catherine McCord of Safety--Keen Corporation.) 
Under this policy, EPA would consider the scanned copies to constitute the equivalent of 
the original paper records for purposes of the applicable retention requirements. 
Similarly, Congress adopted a law in 1994 that authorized the retention by hamat 
offerors or carriers of either the hazardous materials shipping paper "or an electronic 
image thereof." 49 U.S .C. 5 1 1 O(e). The Hazardous Materials Regulations (HMRs) were 
amended in 200 1 to codify the electronic retention requirement specified in the 1994 
statute. 

Under RCRA authority, EPA's hazardous waste transportation requirements must 
be consistent with the HMR requirements, as hazardous wastes are a subset of hazardous 
materials subject to the HMRs. Thus, both EPA and Department of Transportation 
(DOT) policies are consistent in this area, as the agencies regard m electronic image of a 
manifest as sufficient to constitute a record of a manifest that must be retained by RCRA 
waste handlers. While this policy addressed a fact pattern involving the retention of 
image files by designated facilities, we believe that image file storage as described in the 
1996 policy statement is also appropriate for generators and transporters as well, and, in 
fact, the HMRs allow this result. Therefore, EPA concludes that a generator could satisfy 
its regulatory obligations with a faxed or scanned image file of a signed manifest 
delivered to the generator by a rail transporter, as described below, if the image file is 
either printed and stored with the generator's other paper files or retained electronically 
as described in the 1996 guidance. 

While we have concluded that a generator could satisfy its regulatory obligations 
with its receipt and retention of a faxed or scanned image of a signed manifest, there are 
several related matters that must be addressed before the RCRA manifkt regulations for 
rail shipments will be fully satisfied by the use of a faxed or scanned image. First, there 
must be some means implemented to ensure that a faxed or scanned image copy that is 
transmitted electronically is in fact received by the generator, so that the electronic 
delivery of the image file is as effective as the hand delivery of signed paper copies in the 
more customary hand delivery scenario when the manifest copies are carried with the 
hazardous waste shipment, A scanned image transmitted as a PDF file by e-mail with a 
return receipt in the e-mail system would be one means to accomplish this. For a fax 
transmission, here must be some equivalent means implemented to demonstrate the 
receipt of the faxed copy by the intended generator recipient. 



Second, with respect to the faxed or scanned image that is transmitted to the 
generator, it must be assured that the rail company signature on the faxed or scanned 
image files is legible and clearly identifies the signatory for the rail transporter. 

Third, the remaining signed original manifest copies must be promptly forwarded 
to the next non-rail transporter or to the designated facility, so that the paper manifest 
copies art available to these subsequent waste handlers before the hazardous waste 
arrives at their facilities. Because this policy of allowing the use of faxed or scanned 
manifest copies in rail transport scenarios would result in the rail movement of hazardous 
waste shipments beginning perhaps up to two days earlier than under the procedures 
involving paper manifests, EPA is concerned that some rail shipments could arrive at the 
subsequent non-rail waste handler or designated facility before the paper manifests 
documenting these shipments arrive. Therefore, to avoid the confusion and tracking 
errors that might result if such rail shipments arrived in advance of the paper manifests, 
EPA suggests that the rail transporters interested in following this policy regarding faxed 
copies or electronic images should, on behalf of the generator, forward the remaining 
signed paper manifest copies to the next non-rail transporter or to the designated facility, 
The rail transporter's voluntary assumption of this generator responsibility will enable the 
rail transporters to implement the flexibility they seek of commencing hazardous waste 
movements more expeditiously, while maintaining the integrity of the manifest system 
for the subsequent non-rail transporters and facilities. 

This interpretation addresses the Federal manifesting requirements applicable to 
rail transportation. You should also check with the authorized state agencies in which 
your client does business to determine whether the authorized state p r o w s  will also 
follow this Federal policy on the delivery of scanned or faxed images of manifests to 
generators. I f  you have any questions about this interpretation of the Federal manifest 
requirements and policies, please contact Richard Lashier on 703-308-8796. 

Sincerely, 

Matthew Hale, Director 
Ofice of Solid Waste 

Enclosure 
















